# BASELINE ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT

Picton High School 480 Argyle Street, Picton NSW



Prue Newton

Archaeological Management & Consulting Group

For

**Billard Leece Partnership** 

On behalf of Department of Education NSW

August 2018



Disclaimer

The veracity of this report is not guaranteed unless it is a complete and original copy.

This report may be inaccurate, incomplete, not original, or modified, if it appears in monochrome form and the signature below is a copy.

Martin Carney Director (mobile 0411 727 395)



Archaeological Management & Consulting Group

AEGIS HERITAGE Pty Ltd ACN 121 655 020

 Ph
 (02) 9568 6093

 Fax
 (02) 9568 6093

 Mob
 0411 727 395

 E-mail
 amac@archaeological.com.au

### Cover Image

1957 Crown Plan

Study site outlined in red. NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, Volume 10339 Folio 200

## CONTENTS

TABL	E OF FIGURES	2
<b>1.0</b> 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	INTRODUCTION BACKGROUND STUDY AREA SCOPE AUTHOR IDENTIFICATION STATUTORY CONTROLS AND HERITAGE STUDIES 1.5.1 NSW Heritage Act 1977 (as amended) 1.5.2 National Parks and Wildlife Act (1974) 1.5.3 State Heritage Register and Inventory 1.5.4 National Heritage List 1.5.5 Commonwealth Heritage List 1.5.6 Wollondilly Local Environment Plan 2011 PREVIOUS HERITAGE STUDIES AND REPORTS	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 9 9 9 10
1.7 2.0 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.4	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS <b>SITE HISTORY</b> PRE-EUROPEAN HISTORY EUROPEAN HISTORY OF PICTON ORIGINAL GRANT SUBSEQUENT OWNERS AND OCCUPANTS DEVELOPMENT	10 <b>11</b> 11 13 13 17
<b>3.0</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3	<b>PHYSICAL EVIDENCE</b> SITE DESCRIPTION PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT STATEMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL POTENTIAL	<b>28</b> 28 28 42
<b>4.0</b> 4.1 4.2 4.3	ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE METHODOLOGY IDENTIFICATION OF SIGNIFICANCE STATEMENT OF CULTURAL SIGNIFICANCE	<b>43</b> 43 44 45
5.0 S	TATEMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL HERITAGE IMPACT	46
<b>6.0</b> 6.1 6.2 6.3	RESULTS AND RECOMMENDATIONSRESULTS6.1.1Documentary Research6.1.2Physical Evidence6.1.3SignificanceRECOMMENDATIONSSTATEMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL HERITAGE IMPACT	<b>47</b> 47 47 47 47 47 47 48
<b>7.0</b>	BIBLIOGRAPHY	40 <b>49</b>
<b>8.0</b> 8.1 8.2	APPENDICES PRIMARY APPLICATION 1041 LPI VOL 10339 FOL 200	<b>50</b> 50 56

# **TABLE OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.1	Site location	5
Figure 1.2	Aerial photograph showing the study site	6
Figure 1.3	Topographic map with site location.	6
Figure 2.1	1841 Plan	18
Figure 2.2	1857 Sketch of Village of Lower Picton.	19
Figure 2.3	1866 Crown Grant.	20
Figure 2.4	1892 Parish Map	21
Figure 2.5	1894 Crown Plan.	21
Figure 2.6	1894 Crown Plan.	22
Figure 2.7	1898 Deposition Plan 3007	
Figure 2.8	1910 Photograph of the town of Picton from Vault Hill	23
Figure 2.9	Reconstruction of the Great Southern Highway in 1929 in the Town of Picton	
Figure 2.10	Part of the Great Southern Highway near Picton showing failed	23
rigule 2.10	construction work by the Public Works Department	21
Figure 2.11	1919 Parish Map	
Figure 2.12	1948 Parish Map	
Figure 2.12	1946 Pansh Map 1957 Crown Plan	
Figure 2.14	1966 Crown Plan.	
Figure 3.1	Picton High School (study site) bounded by Argyle Street (west) and	21
riguie 5.1	Wonga Road (east). Facing east	30
Figure 3.2	Entrance to the carpark and bus station at Picton High School. Facin	00 n
rigure 0.2	south east.	
Figure 3.3	Exit to the carpark and bus station at Picton High School. Facing nor	th
rigure 0.0	east	
Figure 3.4	Concrete footpath with two parallel fences fronting Argyle Street.	01
rigare e. i	Facing east.	31
Figure 3.5	Two courts at the south boundary of Picton High School. Facing east	
riguro o.o		
Figure 3.6	Large field backing onto Wonga Road and smaller field on the souther	
.guie ere	boundary. Facing east.	32
Figure 3.7	Demolition Plan	
Figure 3.8	Proposed Development Buildings.	
Figure 3.9	Lower Ground Floor Plan	
Figure 3.10	Ground Floor A.	
Figure 3.11	Ground Floor B.	
Figure 3.12	First Floor Plan.	
Figure 3.13	Elevations – Sheet 2.	
Figure 3.14	Elevations – Sheet 3.	
Figure 3.15	Site Boundary including access works.	
5	, .	

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

### Documentary Evidence

- The study site was part of a large grant of land to Charles Luis Rumker in 1822.
- There is no evidence for the 19<sup>th</sup> century use of the site. The chain of title suggests that it was owned by farmers who may have utilised the land as pasture.
- The Great Southern Road (later Hume Highway now Argyle St) was constructed in the early 19<sup>th</sup> century along the western boundary of the site. This road has undergone many phases of resurfacing including major works in the late 1920s.
- Picton High School was constructed on the site from the 1950s.

### Physical Evidence and Significance

- The site currently contains a mid-late 20<sup>th</sup> century school.
- Proposed works entail the demolition of buildings to make way for new educational facilities. Landscaping, car parking and a new access road are also proposed.
- Historically the potential use of the site as agricultural land may have created archaeological features such as postholes, hoe marks and other ephemeral evidence however this is likely to have been disturbed by later development.
- There is a low potential for archaeological materials, such as sandstone road foundations, associated with the original alignment of the Great Southern Road.
- Remains of the original Great Southern Road have the potential to be of local significance.

### Recommendations

- An Archaeological Work Method Statement should be prepared to provide a methodology for the archaeological inspection and monitoring of any works likely to impact the original fabric of the Great Southern Road.
- Should any unexpected relics be uncovered outside of this zone, works should cease, and an archaeologist should be contacted to inspect the find. This is considered unlikely for the site.

## GLOSSARY

Term	Definition		
AMAC	Archaeological Management and Consulting Group		
Archaeological feature	Archaeological material which is not considered a relic in terms of the NSW Heritage Act 1977. For example- postholes, artefact scatters, cesspits or rubbish pits		
DCP	Development Control Plan		
DP	Deposited Plan		
Former relic	A deposit, artefact, object or material evidence whereby the integrity of the relic is viewed to have been destroyed or disturbed to the point where it is no longer considered to hold any significance as a relic in terms of the NSW Heritage Act 1977.		
Heritage Division	Formerly known as the Heritage Branch		
LEP	Local Environment Plan		
LGA	Local Government Area		
LTO	Land Titles Office		
NPW Act	National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974		
OEH	NSW Office of Environment and Heritage (formerly known as the DECCW)		
Relic	Defined by the NSW Heritage Act (see Section 1.5.3) as: "any deposit, artefact, object or material evidence that: (a) relates to the settlement of the area that comprises New South Wales, not being Aboriginal settlement, and (b) is of State or local heritage significance"		
S57	Refers to definition of Section 57 in the NSW Heritage Act 1977		
S60	Refers to definition of Section 60 in the NSW Heritage Act 1977		
S139	Refers to definition of Section 139 in the NSW Heritage Act 1977		
S140	Refers to definition of Section 140 in the NSW Heritage Act 1977		
SHI	State Heritage Inventory		
SHR	State Heritage Register		
Work	Archaeological material related to road and rail infrastructure which is not considered a relic in terms of the NSW Heritage Act 1977, however may retain an archaeological significance independent of the statutory definitions. The interpretation of a 'work' has been defined in consultation with the Heritage Division		



Figure 1.1Site location<br/>Google Maps (accessed 10th August 2018)



Figure 1.2Aerial photograph showing the study site<br/>Six Maps (accessed 8th August 2018)



Figure 1.3 Topographic map with site location. Study area outlined in black. Six Maps, LPI Online, accessed 15/11/2017.

# **1.0** INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 BACKGROUND

Billard Leece Partnership on behalf of Department of Education NSW has commissioned the Archaeological Management and Consulting Group to prepare a Baseline Archaeological Assessment. This report has been prepared in relation to State Significant Development #8640. The report conforms to Heritage Office Guidelines for Archaeological Assessment.<sup>1</sup>

### 1.2 STUDY AREA

The study site is that piece of land described as Lot 2 of the Land and Property Information Deposited Plan 520158 forming the street address 480 Argyle Street, Picton, in the Parish of Couridjah, County of Camden.

### 1.3 SCOPE

This report does not consider the potential Aboriginal archaeology of the study site. However, any Aboriginal sites and objects are protected by the National Parks and Wildlife Act (see Section 1.5.2). A separate assessment and test excavation investigation for Aboriginal archaeology has been conducted by AMAC Group.

The heritage value of the structures currently standing on the study site is not assessed as part of this report.

The discovery of unknown and unassessed remains will require additional assessment.

### **1.4 AUTHOR IDENTIFICATION**

This report was researched and written by Prue Newton and reviewed by Ivana Vetta.

The main collections used were the City of Sydney Archives, State Records of New South Wales, NSW Land and Property Information, State Library of New South Wales, and the National Library of Australia Trove online collection.

### 1.5 STATUTORY CONTROLS AND HERITAGE STUDIES

### 1.5.1 NSW Heritage Act 1977 (as amended)

The NSW Heritage Act 1977 affords automatic statutory protection to relics that form archaeological deposits or part thereof. The Act defines relics as:

Relic means any deposit, artefact, object or material evidence that:

- (a) relates to the settlement of the area that comprises New South Wales, not being Aboriginal settlement, and
- (b) is of State or local heritage significance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Heritage Office and Department of Urban Affairs and Planning (1996).

Sections 139 to 145 of the Act prevent the excavation or disturbance of land for the purpose of discovering, exposing or moving a relic, except by a qualified archaeologist to whom an excavation permit has been issued by the Heritage Council of NSW.

### 1.5.2 National Parks and Wildlife Act (1974)

The National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 (as amended) affords protection to all Aboriginal objects and is governed by the NSW Office of Environment and Heritage. These objects are defined as:

any deposit, object or material evidence (not being a handicraft made for sale) relating to the Aboriginal habitation of the area that comprises New South Wales, being habitation before or concurrent with (or both) the occupation of that area by persons of non-Aboriginal extraction, and includes Aboriginal remains.<sup>2</sup>

It is an offence to destroy Aboriginal objects or places without the consent of the Director-General.<sup>3</sup> Section 86 discusses 'Harming or desecration of Aboriginal objects and Aboriginal places':

- (1) A person must not harm or desecrate an object that the person knows is an Aboriginal object. Maximum penalty:
  - (a) in the case of an individual-2,500 penalty units or imprisonment for 1 year, or both, or (in circumstances of aggravation) 5,000 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or both, or
  - (b) in the case of a corporation-10,000 penalty units.
- (2) A person must not harm an Aboriginal object. Maximum penalty:
  - (a) in the case of an individual-500 penalty units or (in circumstances of aggravation) 1,000 penalty units, or
    - (b) in the case of a corporation-2,000 penalty units.
- (3) For the purposes of this section, "circumstances of aggravation" are:
  - (a) that the offence was committed in the course of carrying out a commercial activity, or
  - (b) that the offence was the second or subsequent occasion on which the offender was convicted of an offence under this section.

This subsection does not apply unless the circumstances of aggravation were identified in the court attendance notice or summons for the offence.

- (4) A person must not harm or desecrate an Aboriginal place.
- Maximum penalty:
  - (a) in the case of an individual-5,000 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or both, or
  - (b) in the case of a corporation-10,000 penalty units.
- (5) The offences under subsections (2) and (4) are offences of strict liability and the defence of honest and reasonable mistake of fact applies.
- (6) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply with respect to an Aboriginal object that is dealt with in accordance with section 85A.
- (7) A single prosecution for an offence under subsection (1) or (2) may relate to a single Aboriginal object or a group of Aboriginal objects.
- (8) If, in proceedings for an offence under subsection (1), the court is satisfied that, at the time the accused harmed the Aboriginal object concerned, the accused did not know that the object was an Aboriginal object, the court may find an offence proved under subsection (2).<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Part 1 Section 5, National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Part 6 Section 90 (1) National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Part 6 Section 86, National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974.

### 1.5.2.1 Due Diligence Code of Practice for the Protection of Aboriginal Objects in NSW

In October 2010 DECCW (now the Office of Environment and Heritage) introduced the "Due Diligence Code of Practice for the Protection of Aboriginal Objects in NSW".<sup>5</sup> This code of conduct was released in response to changes in the NPW Act which now states "A person must not harm or desecrate an object that the person knows is an Aboriginal object" or that "A person must not harm or desecrate an Aboriginal place" (NPW Act, Amendment 2010). Individuals or organisations who are contemplating undertaking activities which could harm Aboriginal objects should consult this code or engage the services of an appropriately qualified archaeological consultant to carry out a Due Diligence study on any proposed development.

This code provides a process whereby a reasonable determination can be made as to whether or not Aboriginal objects will be harmed by an activity, whether further investigation is warranted, and whether the activity requires an Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit (AHIP) application.

If through this or any other process which meets the standards of this code, such as the commission of an Environmental Impact Assessment, one has already taken reasonable steps to identify Aboriginal objects in an area subject to a proposed activity. Subsequently if it is already known that Aboriginal objects will be harmed, or are likely to be harmed by an activity, then an application should be made for an AHIP.

### 1.5.3 State Heritage Register and Inventory

The NSW State Heritage Register or Inventory is a list which contains places, items and areas of heritage value to New South Wales. These places are protected under the New South Wales Heritage Act 1977.

The site is not listed on the NSW State Heritage Register or Inventory.

### 1.5.4 National Heritage List

The National Heritage List is a list which contains places, items and areas of outstanding heritage value to Australia. This can include places and areas overseas as well as items of Aboriginal significance and origin. These places are protected under the Australian Government's EPBC Act.

The study site is not listed on the National Heritage List.

### 1.5.5 Commonwealth Heritage List

The Commonwealth Heritage List can include natural, Indigenous and historic places of value to the nation. Items on this list are under Commonwealth ownership or control and as such are identified, protected and managed by the federal government.

The study site is not listed on the Commonwealth Heritage List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Office of Environment and Heritage,

http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/resources/cultureheritage/ddcop/10798ddcop.pdf

### 1.5.6 Wollondilly Local Environment Plan 2011

The Wollondilly Shire Local Environmental Plan was endorsed in 2011. Heritage Conservation is discussed in Part 5; Section 5.10. The following section highlights the archaeological considerations of a site in relation to developments:

### 7) Archaeological sites

The consent authority must, before granting consent under this clause to the carrying out of development on an archaeological site (other than land listed on the State Heritage Register or to which an interim heritage order under the *Heritage Act 1977* applies):

- (a) notify the Heritage Council of its intention to grant consent, and
- (b) take into consideration any response received from the Heritage Council within 28 days after the notice is sent.

Schedule 5 of this plan lists Items of Environmental Heritage with heritage items listed in Part 1, Heritage Conservation areas listed in Part 2 and Archaeological Sites listed in Part 3. The study site is not listed as a heritage item.

### 1.6 PREVIOUS HERITAGE STUDIES AND REPORTS

# 1.6.1 AMAC Group and Streat Archaeological Services (2018) Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Report, Picton High School Redevelopment.

An Aboriginal Cultural Heritage report was prepared for Billard Leece Partnership on behalf of the Department of Education (DoE) in March 2018 for the proposed State Significant Development #8640 Picton High School. The report assessed whether the proposed development consisting of a three storey educational building, will impact and harm any objects and/or deposits of Aboriginal and/or archaeological significance. Background research indicated that the entirety of the study area had been undeveloped from the 19<sup>th</sup> Century – 21<sup>st</sup> Century and had been used for agricultural purposes which only pose an impact to the surface. The depth of the soil profile indicated that the soils may be intact, however after test excavation the soils were reassessed as being significantly disturbed.

The test excavation consisted of subsurface excavation, sieving and recording. The results concluded that no Aboriginal objects and/or deposits or features of cultural significance were identified during the programme of test excavation. Therefore, no further investigation was warranted, and works were able to proceed with caution. No historical relics were uncovered during this work.

### 1.7 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Mr Johnsen Lim of Billard Leece Partnership for his assistance during the reporting process.

# 2.0 SITE HISTORY

### 2.1 PRE-EUROPEAN HISTORY

It is generally accepted that Aboriginal occupation of Australia dates back at least 40,000 years.<sup>6</sup> The result of this extensive and continued occupation which includes the Sydney region has left a vast amount of accumulated depositional evidence and the Cumberland Lowlands is no exception. The oldest date generally considered to be reliable for the earliest occupation around the region comes from excavations at Parramatta which contain objects or features which have been dated to 30,735 ± 407 BP.<sup>7</sup>

The majority of reliably dated archaeological sites within the region are less than 5,000 years old which places them in the mid to late Holocene period. A combination of reasons has been suggested for this collection of relatively recent dates. There is an argument that an increase in population and 'intensification' of much of the continent took place around this time, leading to a great deal more evidence being deposited than was created as a result of the sparser prior occupation period. It is also the case that many archaeological sites along the past coastline may have been submerged as the seas rose approximately to their current level around 6,000 years ago. This would have had the effect of covering evidence of previous coastal occupation. In addition, it is also true that the acidic soils which are predominate around the Sydney region do not allow for longer-term survival of sites.<sup>8</sup>

Different landscape units not only influence the preservation of sites but can determine where certain site types will be located. Across the whole of the Sydney Basin, the most common Aboriginal archaeological site type is occupation evidence within Rock Shelters. However, the most common Aboriginal archaeological site type in the Cumberland Lowlands is Open Artefact Scatters or Open Campsites, which are locations where two or more pieces of stone show evidence of human modification. These sites can sometimes be very large, with up to thousands of artefacts and include other habitation remains such as animal bone, shell or fireplaces [known as *hearths*].<sup>9</sup> Many hundreds of artefact sites have been recorded within the Cumberland Lowlands. This is despite the fact that at least 50% of the Cumberland Lowlands has already been developed to such an extent that any archaeological evidence which may have once been present has been destroyed.

### 2.2 EUROPEAN HISTORY OF PICTON

Picton lies between the terraces of the Hawkesbury/Nepean River System and is in the vicinity of major tributaries such as the Nepean River and minor ones including Stonequarry Creek and Redbank Creek. The first explorers to venture into the Picton area was ex-convict John Wilson and his party in 1798. The area was originally called Stonequarry after the creek and the current Picton was not the original site but was a private town.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Attenbrow 2002 p.20 - 21 & Kohen et al 1983

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> McDonald et al 2005

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Hiscock 2008 p. 106

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Attenbrow 2002 p. 75 – 76

In the early 1800s a southern route from Sydney, surveyed by James Meehan had been established called the Great Southern Road which bisected Picton and later became known as the Hume Highway. The original village and government town of Picton was situated south of the current town and established in 1821. This resulted in people referring to this area as Upper Picton or Redbank. It was located on Redbank Reserve and was bounded by Prince Street on the north side, Stonequarry Creek on the east, Redbank Creek as its southern boundary and Rumker Street as the western boundary.<sup>10</sup> Prior to the establishment of the settlement, a substantial amount of cattle went missing from the Sydney Cove settlement. The government sent a group of people to locate them and in 1795 the herd, which had multiplied, were found near the Nepean River. The government decided to keep the cattle there as they saw an opportunity for breeding them for the colony.<sup>11</sup> The government sealed off the area between the Nepean and Warragamba Rivers to the north, Nattai Mountains to the west, south on the Bargo River and on to the east to the Nepean River and called it 'The Cowpastures'. This remained this way until the 1820s when the government decided this area would be a good location for a new settlement.

Major Henry Colden Antill received the first land grant in 1822 at what was called the district of Picton. There is some discussion on the origin of the name Picton with the most common explanation being that Major Antill may have called it after General Sir Thomas Picton whom was a soldier and friend.<sup>12</sup> In April 1840 George Harper advanced on the private town on Antill's land and advertised that allotments would be for sale by auction in the township of Stonequarry. These allotments would be up to one acre in size and located either side of the new southern highway on the southern side of Stonequarry Creek.<sup>13</sup> The private town was not successful and in 1845 the government employed surveyor Galloway to survey the area south of the private town for blocks of land. The blocks were all sold by 1855 and land was reserved for a church, school and courthouse. Although the private town north of the new town was already called Picton the government used the same name. This caused many issues and a petition was created to rename the government village Redbank, however the government decided to call it Upper Picton in 1847 (Figure 2.1).<sup>14</sup>

A number of historic buildings were erected in the 19<sup>th</sup> century including: the George IV Inn constructed in 1839, Picton Old Main Railway Tunnel in 1867, the Victoria Bridge which is a timber trestle bridge that crosses Stonequarry Creek (opened in 1897), and in 1863 a stone viaduct called the Picton Railway Viaduct that also crosses Stonequarry Creek and is still in use. There was some disagreement between the government and the locals in regard to Upper and Lower Picton which caused division. Eventually the private town flourished, and the government town dwindled. Much of the area was used for agricultural purposes especially south of the original townships where the study site is located.

In 1928 Government Gazette No. 110 proclaimed that the Great Southern Road route via Picton was a State highway and it was now called either the Hume

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> L. Vincent (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> L. Vincent (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Early Days of Picton (1946, November 14). *The Picton Post (NSW : 1907 - 1954)*, p. 6. accessed August 17, 2018, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article111264066

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> L. Vincent (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> L. Vincent (1995).

Highway or Great Southern Highway, upgrade works were carried out to the road during the 1920s (Figure 2.9-Figure 2.10).<sup>15</sup>

Moving into the 20<sup>th</sup> and 21<sup>st</sup> century increased building development has continued southward along the main road (Figure 2.8). The government used the undeveloped agricultural for the sites of new infrastructure including Picton High School which was constructed in 1958 on Argyle Street / Hume Highway and was a coeducational comprehensive school. The school has strong links to its local community and feeder primary schools.

#### ORIGINAL GRANT 2.3

The land was originally granted to Charles Luis Rumker (1788-1862) who came free to Sydney from Germany on the *Prince Regent* in 1821.<sup>16</sup> Rumker was an accomplished astronomer working out of multiple observatories including Hamburg. Lisbon and Parramatta. In 1854 he received a gold medal for his work from the Royal Astronomical Society. Prior to this achievement in 1822 Governor Sir T. Brisbane granted Rumker 1000 acres at Picton which he called 'Stargard'. The land was described as "land that was bound by Redbank and Stonequarry Creek to the north, Stonequarry Creek continuing to the east, south of a line bearing west 57 chains to Argyle Road and to the west of a road leading to Redbank Creek".<sup>17</sup> In 1823 it is said that Rumker retired to 'Stargard' and his farm.<sup>18</sup> In 1828, Rumker was granted another 1000 acres and later, in 1833, and additional 200 acres extending his land southward to Myrtle Creek.<sup>19</sup> The property 'Stargard' forms the north portion of land initially granted to Rumker and is not in the direct vicinity of Lot 2, the study site.

#### SUBSEQUENT OWNERS AND OCCUPANTS 2.4

In 1844, Rumker released 1200 acres of his 2200-acre property to Reverend William Lumsdaine which was certified in 1866 (Table 2.1).<sup>20</sup> Lumsdaine was a Presbyterian Minister at Richmond in 1843-4.<sup>21</sup> In the same month that the Certificate of Title was granted, Lumsdaine sold the portion of land to Thomas Adris Hilder.<sup>22</sup> Hilder was a publican according to a police gazette notifying theft of a saddle and bridle out of his stables in Picton.<sup>23</sup> Sarah Jane Crispe and Hilder were married in 1858 and had two recorded children, Amy and Thomas (Jnr).<sup>24</sup> Prior to Hilder's death in 1896 he subdivided the land and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/documents/projects/south-western/hume-highway/historybegins-with-a-road.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Reel PRO 66 Vol. 10/19 & 10/20, published in "General Muster List of New South Wales 1823/1824/1825", edited by Carol J. Baxter, published by ABGR, Sydney, 1999. <sup>17</sup> No 1041.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> G. F. J. Bergman (1960), p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> No 1041

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> No 1041, Vol 23 Fol 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Early Days Of Picton (29 August 1946). The Picton Post (NSW : 1907 - 1954), p. 1. accessed August 17, 2018, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article111264968. <sup>22</sup> Vol 24 Fol 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> New South Wales (1862), Police Gazettes 1854-1930, Thomas A Hilder, p. 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> BMD m. 521/1858; Amy 11580/1859 and Thomas Jnr 12538/1862.

sold Lots 5 and 6 to Florence Maude Teale and Lot 7 and 8 to Ada Mary Bradbury in 1894.<sup>25</sup>

### Lot 5 and 6

The portion of land sold to Teale in 1896 consisted of 14 acres, 2 roods and 29 ¼ perches.<sup>26</sup> Teale had the property until 25<sup>th</sup> February 1924 where after the property was transferred to Edward James Fairley who was a well-known farmer in the Picton area. Edward was married to Margaret Agnes Bollard in 1914 and the property was transferred to his wife on the 20<sup>th</sup> October 1927.<sup>27</sup> Mrs Fairley owned the property for a further 24 years until she sold the property on the 3<sup>rd</sup> May 1951 to joint tenants, Gordon Lachlan Nicholson, Alfred George Turner and her son Edward John Fairley whom were all farmers.<sup>28</sup> On June 7th 1957 Lot 6 along with Lot 7 (study site) was transferred to the crown, Majesty Queen Elizabeth the Second for government use.<sup>29</sup>

### Lots 7 and 8

On the 4<sup>th</sup> June 1894 Hilder sold a portion of the property containing Lot 7 and 8 to Ada Mary Bradbury. Transmission of the title occurred in 1923 where the property was put under Ada's husband, George Bradbury.<sup>30</sup> George was a well-known clerk and the secretary for the first agricultural show held in Picton.<sup>31</sup> Bradbury transferred the property to Edward Fairley on the 18<sup>th</sup> January 1924 and as previously discussed later in that same month purchased Lots 5 and 6 that are situated north of the allotments and adjacent to Lot 7.<sup>32</sup> On the 20<sup>th</sup> October 1927 the property was transferred to his wife Margaret Agnes Fairley whom on the 3<sup>rd</sup> May 1951 sold it to the same joint tenants Gordon Lachlan Nicholson, Alfred George Turner and her son Edward John Fairley. The government became the proprietor of both Lots 6 and 7 on June 7th, 1957.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> BMD 7662/1896. Lots 5 and 6 – Vol 1118 Fol 2; Lots 7 and 8 - Vol 1130 Fol 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Vol 1118 Fol 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> BMD 1456/1914. Vol 1118 Fol 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Vol 1118 Fol 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Vol 7302 Fol 111

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Vol 1130 Fol 31.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> MR. GEORGE BRADBURY (1943, August 5). *The Picton Post (NSW : 1907 - 1954)*, p. 3. accessed August 17, 2018, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article111265609.
 <sup>32</sup> Vol 1130 Fol 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Vol 7302 Fol 111

### Table 2.1 - Title

Date	Title Information	Reference
9 July 1822	Crown Grant To: <b>Charles Luis Rumker</b> 1000 acres	Primary App. No.1041
27 December 1828	Certificate of Title To: <b>Charles Luis Rumker</b> 1000 acres	Vol 10339 Fol 200
28 November 1833	Certificate of Title To: <b>Charles Luis Rumker</b> 200 acres	Primary App. No.1041
14 September 1844	Release From: Charles Luis Rumker To: Reverend William Lumsdaine	Primary App. No.1041
3 January 1866	Certificate of Title To: <b>Reverend William Lumsdaine</b> 1200 acres	Vol 23 Fol 88
18 January 1866	Certificate of Title From: <b>Reverend William Lumsdaine</b> To: <b>Thomas Adris Hilder</b> 1200 acres	Vol 24 Fol 13
LOT 5 & 6 (Lot 6 study site)		
30 January 1894	Certificate of Title From: <b>Thomas Adris Hilder</b> Subdivides the land To: <b>Florence Maude Teale</b> Lots 5 and 6 (6 being part of the study site) 14 acres, 2 roods and 29 ¼ perches	Vol 1118 Fol 2
25 February 1924	Transfer From: Florence Maude Teale To: Edward James Fairley (farmer)	Vol 1118- Fol 2

20 October 1927	Transfer	Vol 1118- Fol 2
	From: Edward James Fairley (farmer)	
	To: Margaret Agnes Fairley (wife)	
3 May 1951	Transfer	Vol 1118- Fol 2
	From: Margaret Agnes Fairley	1012
	To: Gordon Lachlan Nicholson, Alfred George Turner and Edward John Fairley (farmers)	
7 June 1957	Queen Elizabeth II (The government) Lots 6 & 7	Vol 7302 Fol 111
LOT 7 & 8 (Lot 7 study site)		
4 June 1894	Certificate of Title	Vol 1130 Fol 31
	From: Thomas Adris Hilder	
	Subdivides the land	
	To: Ada Mary Bradbury	
	Lot 7 and 8 (7 being part of the study site)	
	13 acres and 27 perches	
21 December 1923	Transmission	Vol 1130 Fol 31
1020	From: Ada Mary Bradbury	
	To: George Bradbury (husband)	
18 January	Transfer	Vol 1130
1924	From: George Bradbury	Fol 31
	To: Edward James Fairley (farmer)	
20 October	Transfer	Vol 1130
1927	From: Edward James Fairley (farmer)	Fol 31
	To: Margaret Agnes Fairley (wife)	
3 May 1951	Transfer	Vol 1130 Fol 31
	From: Margaret Agnes Fairley	10131
	To: Gordon Lachlan Nicholson,	
	Alfred George Turner and Edward John Fairley (farmers)	
7 June 1957	Queen Elizabeth II (The government)	Vol 7302
	Lots 6 & 7	Fol 111

### 2.4 DEVELOPMENT

The study site was part of an original grant dating to 1822 given to Charles Luis Rumker. By 1833 Rumker owned a total of 2200 acres of land which he had developed the north portion as his farm and called it 'Stargard'. The remaining land south of 'Stargard' continued to be used as breeding pastures for the government's cattle.

The Great Southern Road (later Hume Highway) was constructed in the early 19<sup>th</sup> century and followed the old route of Argyle Street which can be seen on an 1841 Plan of the Picton District (Figure 2.1). The Private town of Picton and the government village of Picton, called Upper Picton, were constructed by the mid-19<sup>th</sup> century however the study site was situated further south of these areas and rarely planned on surveys (Figure 2.1- Figure 2.2). In 1844 the 1000 acres sold to Lumsdaine was located southward in the Stone quarry and Redbank creek area and the further 200 acres on the Nepean River. An 1866 Crown Plan is the first known survey that surveys the area in which the study site is located (Figure 2.3). There is no boundaries or evidence that suggests any structures on the site and appears to be undeveloped, used as grazing land for livestock.

A Parish map dating to 1892 demonstrates that the land still remains vacant (Figure 2.4). Hilder subdivided the land and sold Lots 5 and 6 (Lot 6 being part of the study site) to Florence Maude Teale and Lots 7 and 8 (Lot 7 being the other part of study site) to Ada Mary Bradbury. Lot 5 and 6 contained 14 acres, 2 roods and 29 ¼ perches whereas Lots 6 and 7 was 13 acres and 27 perches (Figure 2.5- Figure 2.6). Both 1894 plans demonstrate the Great Southern Road to the west of the allotments and Wonga Road to the east of Lot 7. The lot boundaries are defined however these lots were still being sold in large bundles suggesting that the land was undeveloped. This is further shown in an 1898 Deposition Plan showing again the sale of large portions of the allotments with no indication that any had been selected for development (Figure 2.7). A photograph of the town of Picton taken in 1910 does not specifically show the study site however the land outside of the town centre appears largely undeveloped and used for agricultural purposes (Figure 2.8). The land south of the Village of Picton appears to be used for agricultural activities for majority of the early and mid-20<sup>th</sup> century (Figure 2.11-Figure 2.12).

In 1924 both Teale and George Bradbury sold their allotments to Edward James Fairley. The Fairley family were well known farmers in the Picton area and had both properties up until 1951, where two new tenants Gordon Lachlan Nicholson and Alfred George Turner both farmers, with John Fairley purchased the property. When the Lots 6 and 7 were sold to the government, there is no indication that structures had been built on the property (Figure 2.13). Considering the land had been used by a succession of farmers it is highly likely the study site has only been utilised as grazing paddocks and agricultural activities until its purchase by the government. The Great Southern Highway (later Hume Highway), underwent major phase of reconstruction during the late 1920s (Figure 2.9-Figure 2.10). This road, which borders the west of the site, was regraded and resurfaced during this time. The government instructed the construction of Picton High School on the study site in 1958 within the boundaries of Lot 2 former Lots 6 and 7 (Figure 2.14). This forms the first known development phase of the site.

S. B Vol + Fol 71 Col. See 41/403 11 hord. Path Keighran 41/19 8.2000 Tho! Reighran 41/312: 27 act. tho! Reighran 41/312: 27 act. bol. See. to 5. 9 41/428 of 24 defter y the Ky Picton D. Kiley 54 m Tati

### Figure 2.1 1841 Plan.

Tracing showing land grants. Study site is located south of the plan indicated by red arrow.

NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, Book 4 Folio 71.



Figure 2.21857 Sketch of Village of Lower Picton.<br/>Study site is located south of the sketch indicated by the red arrow.<br/>NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer,<br/>Book 8 Folio 17.





Figure 2.31866 Crown Grant.<br/>Approximate location of study site outlined in red<br/>NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer,<br/>Volume 23 Folio 88.

### Baseline Archaeological Assessment – Picton High School, NSW



Figure 2.4 1892 Parish Map. Approximate study site outlined in red Map F, Reference 21.



Figure 2.5 1894 Crown Plan. Lots 5 and 6 indicated in red showing purchase and study site outlined in blue. NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, Volume 1118 Folio 2

August 2018



Figure 2.61894 Crown Plan.Lots 7 and 8 outlined in red and the study site outlined in blue.NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer,<br/>Volume 1130 Folio 31



Figure 2.7 1898 Deposition Plan 3007. Study site outlined in red. NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, Volume 1252 Folio 163



Figure 2.81910 Photograph of the town of Picton from Vault Hill.<br/>Campbelltown City Library, Local Studies Collection.



# Figure 2.9 Reconstruction of the Great Southern Highway in 1929 in the Town of Picton

E131, Photographs of metropolitan, country roads ferries etc., and miscellaneous operations, New South Wales, NSW State Records



Figure 2.10 Part of the Great Southern Highway near Picton showing failed construction work by the Public Works Department E133, Photographs of metropolitan, country roads ferries etc., and miscellaneous operations, New South Wales, NSW State Records



Figure 2.11 1919 Parish Map. Study site outlined in blue NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, A.O. Map No. 20297.



Figure 2.12 1948 Parish Map. Study site outlined in blue. NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, A.O. Map No. 20298.



Figure 2.13 1957 Crown Plan. Study site outlined in red. NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer, Volume 10339 Folio 200.



Figure 2.141966 Crown Plan.<br/>Shows the study site outlined in red.<br/>NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Land Records Viewer,<br/>Volume 10339 Folio 200

# **3.0 PHYSICAL EVIDENCE**

### 3.1 SITE DESCRIPTION

The street address for the study site is 480 Argyle Street, Picton NSW. It is bounded by Argyle Street on the west and Wonga Road to the east. The study area contains the current Picton High School (Figure 3.1).

The study area currently contains multiple educational buildings which cover the entire portion of the site excluding the north-east strip where a sporting field is located. Access to the carpark and bus station is via Argyle Street in the north west corner and the exit is approximately 60 metres south of the access (Figure 3.2 - Figure 3.3). Fronting Argyle Street is a low metal fence with a concrete footpath. Parallel to the fence is a second higher fence that contains the educational buildings (Figure 3.4).

There are two courts in the southwest portion of the site along the southern boundary (Figure 3.5). A large rectangular sporting field occupies the north east area backing onto Wonga Road and a smaller square field is situated in the centre of the southern boundary (Figure 3.6).

The allotment contains a large number of trees and vegetation across the street but more densely situated along the northern boundary.

### 3.2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

The proposed development forms State Significant development (SSD) application #8640 for the redevelopment of Picton High School (Figure 3.7 - Figure 3.15). The proposed build consists of 3 floors of education spaces (Ground floor, lower floor and first floor). The tiered building design utilises the stepped terrain of the site for accessibility. The highest point of the proposed roof sits at RL 22.47, while the lowest point of the development is RL 21.35, making the building approximately 11.2m in height. The topography is raised towards the west and declines towards the east in a terraced effect, therefore the ground level of the building towards the west is 3.5m higher than the base of the lower ground level at the eastern end. (Figure 3.12)

Significant landscaping has been proposed including terraced grass spaces at the northern end to align with the tiered nature of the building design and topography. External facilities have either been amended or added such as the proposed new service delivery access road along the south-eastern boundary, as well as carparking facilities along the western, northern and southern perimeter.

### **BLP Area Calculations:**

- Total Site Area = 56900sqm
- Argyle Street (RMS land within boundary) = 750 sqm
- Argyle Street road upgrades area = 3634 sqm
- Total Argyle Street area of proposed work = 4384 sqm
- Wonga Road (Council land) = 2750sqm

This redevelopment also includes works within Argyle Street (Great Southern Road/former Hume Highway) out the front of the current school boundary as well as within Wollondilly Council land at the SE corner of the school boundary.

Aboriginal test excavation that commenced in January 2018 by AMAC Group reported that the soil was found to be significantly disturbed and no Aboriginal objects and/or features of cultural and archaeological significance were found.



Figure 3.1 Picton High School (study site) bounded by Argyle Street (west) and Wonga Road (east). Facing east. Google Maps (accessed 16/8/2018).



Figure 3.2 Entrance to the carpark and bus station at Picton High School. Facing south east. Google Maps (accessed 16/8/2018).



Figure 3.3 Exit to the carpark and bus station at Picton High School. Facing north east. Google Maps (accessed 16/8/2018).



Figure 3.4 Concrete footpath with two parallel fences fronting Argyle Street. Facing east. Google Maps (accessed 16/8/2018).



Figure 3.5 Two courts at the south boundary of Picton High School. Facing east. Google Maps (accessed 16/8/2018).



Figure 3.6 Large field backing onto Wonga Road and smaller field on the southern boundary. Facing east. Google Maps (accessed 16/8/2018).



#### Demolition Plan. Figure 3.7

Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA02-0001.





### Figure 3.8

**Proposed Development Buildings.** Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA03-0002.




### Figure 3.9 Lower Ground Floor Plan.

Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA10-0001.



### Figure 3.10 Ground Floor A.

Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA10-0002.





## Figure 3.11

**Ground Floor B.** Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA10-0033.



## Figure 3.12 First Floor Plan.

Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA10-0034.







# Figure 3.13

Elevations – Sheet 2. Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA20-0002.















#### Figure 3.14 Elevations – Sheet 3. Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA20-0003.



Archaeo*logical* Management & Consulting Group August 2018









CLIENT DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION					DRAWING NUMBER AA00-0020	PROJECT TITL
DRAWING TITLE: SITE BOUNDARY PLAN					SCALE 1:2500 @ A3	REDEVELOPME PROJECT NUM 17003
<u>۹</u>		50	75	100	125 1	DATE 23/02/2018

### Figure 3.15

Site Boundary including access works. Billard Leece Partnership Pty Ltd (23/02/2018) Drawing No. AA20-0003.

Archaeo*logical* Management & Consulting Group August 2018

### 3.3 STATEMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL POTENTIAL

Based on historic research and overlays, the study site provides no evidence for development prior to the current mid-20<sup>th</sup> century buildings associated with Picton High School. It appears that throughout much of the 19<sup>th</sup> century the land was either vacant or used as grazing paddocks. The study site was part of a much larger area whereby land was used for purposes such as farming and agricultural activities. No evidence has been found to suggest that the study site was ever developed in relation to the early town of Picton, most likely due to its location.

It can be suggested that there is unknown potential for archaeological remains relating to 19<sup>th</sup> century agricultural activities. Though not often detailed on historic plans, agricultural activities create archaeological features such as post holes relating to earlier fencing, hoe marks, cultivation marks or signs of agricultural activity. Such features are ephemeral and are likely to have been significantly impacted by the construction and uses of the school.

The study site fronts Argyle Street (former Great Southern Road/ Hume Highway) to which its first instance was formalised in the early 19<sup>th</sup> century. There is low archaeological potential for evidence of the original construction of the road. This road was significantly modified during the 1920s when it was regraded. Archaeological materials including sandstone road base and earlier road surfaces may survive below the current asphalt associated with the Great Southern Road.

# 4.0 ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

## 4.1 METHODOLOGY

The current standard for assessment of significance of heritage items in NSW is the publication 'Assessing Significance for Historical Archaeological Sites and 'Relics' produced by the Heritage Branch of the NSW Department of Planning (December 2009). This production is an update to the NSW Heritage Manual (1996), and the criteria detailed therein are a revised version of those of the Australia ICOMOS Burra Charter, formulated in 1979, which was based largely on the Venice Charter (for International Heritage) of 1966.

Archaeological heritage significance can also be viewed in light of the framework set out by Bickford and Sullivan in 1984.<sup>34</sup> Bickford and Sullivan, taking into consideration the "archaeological, scientific or research significance" of a site posed three questions in order to identify significance:

- 1. Can the site contribute knowledge which no other resource can?
- 2. Can the site contribute knowledge which no other site can?
- Is this knowledge relevant to general questions about human history or other substantive problems relating to Australian history, or does it contributes to other major research questions?<sup>35</sup>

These questions have been broadly used to shape the response to the heritage significance criteria as described in Section 4.2 and 4.3.

The criteria and the definitions provided by 'Assessing Significance for Historical Archaeological Sites and 'Relics' have been adhered to in assessing the cultural significance of the potential archaeological site at 480 Argyle Street, Picton NSW. An assessment of significance, under each of the criteria, is made possible by an analysis of the broad body of archaeological sites previously excavated both locally and elsewhere, in conjunction with the historical overview of the study site in particular.

The Criteria used to assess Heritage Significance in NSW are the following:

Criterion	Description	Significance
Criterion A	An item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW's or the local area's cultural or natural history	State significant or locally significant
Criterion B	An item has strong or special association with the life or works of a person, or group of persons, of importance in NSW's or a local area's cultural or natural history	State significant or locally significant
Criterion C	An item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree of creative or technical achievement in NSW or the local area	State significant or locally significant
Criterion D	An item has strong or special association	State significant or

### Table 4.1 Criteria for Assessing Heritage in NSW

<sup>34</sup> Bickford and Sullivan (1984)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Bickford and Sullivan (1984), p.23-4

	with a particular community or cultural group in NSW or a local area for social, cultural or spiritual reasons	locally significant
Criterion E	An item has potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of NSW's or a local area's cultural or natural history	State significant or locally significant
Criterion F	An item possesses uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of NSW's or a local area's cultural or natural history	State significant or locally significant
Criterion G	An item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of NSW's or a local area's - cultural or natural places; or - cultural or natural environments	State significant or locally significant

The following assessment deals only with sub-surface archaeological features and deposits. The built environment is not considered in this study.

## 4.2 IDENTIFICATION OF SIGNIFICANCE

### Archaeological Research Potential (NSW Heritage Criterion E)

Historical research provides no evidence to suggest that the study site was occupied or developed until the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century. The site was used as grazing paddocks in the 19<sup>th</sup> century however, the existence of archaeological material related to this use is unknown and of limited research potential having most likely been impacts by the construction of the 1950s school. The perceived function of the study site is not considered to be rare, as 19<sup>th</sup> century agricultural activities are common to the area and any archaeological remains related to these activities will likely duplicate rather than enhance the historical record at hand.

The study site fronts Argyle Street former Great Southern Road/ Hume Highway which was constructed in the early 19<sup>th</sup> century. There is low archaeological potential for remains including sandstone road base and evidence of earlier road surfaces to survive from the old road alignment and holds minimal research potential. The material could demonstrate historical infrastructure that was continuously used and is considered of potential local significance according to this criterion. This potential significance is limited to the study site's boundary along Argyle Street.

# Associations with individuals, events or groups of historical importance (NSW Heritage Criteria A, B and D)

The study site was part of an original grant given to Charles Luis Rumker in 1822. Rumker was a well-known, gold medal winning astronomer from Germany. His contribution to the Royal Astronomical Society has been noted. His name may hold some element of local significance to particular groups or entities. However, Rumker did not physically occupy the site and therefore this associative significance will not be demonstrated in the archaeological record. The study site is not considered significant according to these criterion (A, B and D).

### Aesthetic or technical significance (NSW Heritage Criterion C)

The study site is not considered significant according to this criterion.

# Ability to demonstrate the past through archaeological remains (NSW Heritage Criteria A, C, F & G)

Historical research provides no evidence that the study site was occupied or developed until the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century. Evidence of 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> century agricultural use of the wider property, may have created archaeological features such as postholes from earlier fencing or ephemeral evidence of agricultural activities. However, such remains are likely to have been significantly disturbed by th mid-late 20<sup>th</sup> century development and if these remains were found they would hold very little significance in terms of research potential. Only one phase of development is known to have occurred on the study site for the present high school on the allotment which were constructed during the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century. Based on the lack of occupation and development, the study site is not considered of potential significance according to these criteria (A, C, F and G).

There is low potential for remains including road base, sandstone blocks and foundation materials to have survived from the 19<sup>th</sup> century constructed Great Southern Road being the current Argyle Street. If these materials are found to be present, intact and of an interpretable form, they have the potential to be considered of local significance (Criteria G). This potential significance is limited to the study site's boundary along Argyle Street.

### 4.3 STATEMENT OF CULTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

Historical records indicate that the study site remained unoccupied and undeveloped until the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, whereby educational buildings in relation to Picton High School were constructed on the site. The majority of the site has been continuously utilised as grazing paddocks for livestock throughout the 19<sup>th</sup> and 20<sup>th</sup> centuries, however any remains associated with agricultural occupations and use of the site during this period, are likely to be significantly disturbed and are likely to retain limited research potential. The site's earlier affiliation with Rumker could be considered locally significant to some groups or entities, however evidence of this relationship will not be represented within the archaeological record. No known relics of significance are anticipated to exist within the study site.

There is low potential for remains including road base, sandstone blocks and foundation materials to have survived from the 19<sup>th</sup> century construction of the Great Southern Road (now current Argyle Street). If this material is exposed during curb side or street works for the development and found to be in an intact and interpretable state, it has the potential to be considered locally significant.

# 5.0 STATEMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL HERITAGE IMPACT

The proposed development will involve construction of buildings that will excavate below subsurface levels and potentially impact the zone in which the early 19<sup>th</sup> century Great Southern Road (now Argyle Street) old road alignment is located. Prior to the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, the site was unoccupied, and no development is known to have occurred apart from functioning as an agricultural grazing paddock. No evidence for archaeological relics has been identified within the boundary of the study site. There is low potential for materials relating to the old road including road base, and sandstone which could be impacted in the proposed impact areas outside of the allotment boundary.

Considering the proposed development involves minor excavation works outside of the school boundary and within the area of the original road alignment, there is low archaeological potential for material including sandstone, road base and materials to be exposed and relate to earlier instances of the Great Southern Road. Thus, there is some potential for heritage impact to occurred within the excavation zone outside of the school boundary and along Argyle Street. For this reason, it is recommended that an Archaeological Work Method Statement is created by a qualified archaeologist and be in place for the duration of excavation works within this location. The Archaeological Work Method Statement will allow for an archaeologist to inspect and potentially monitor works within this zone that could potentially impact on the former alignment of the Great Southern Road.

Should any unexpected archaeological material be found on the site during excavation works, works should cease in this area and an archaeologist should be contacted to inspect the find. If required, the Heritage Division may need to be notified and further assessment may be required prior to its removal.

# **6.0** RESULTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

## 6.1 RESULTS

### 6.1.1 Documentary Research

The study site was part of an original grant given to Charles Luis Rumker in 1822. In 1844, Rumker released 1200 acres of his 2200-acre property to Reverend William Lumsdaine. Thomas Adris Hilder bought the property shortly after and subdivided the land containing the study sites in 1896. Lot 6 of the study site was transferred to Florence Maude Teale with Lot 5 and Lot 7 of the study site with Lot 8 was released to Ada Mary Bradbury. Both portions of the study site were used as grazing paddocks as they were transferred to subsequent owners that were all farmers. It was not until 1957 that Lots 6 and 7 were bought together by the Majesty Queen Elizabeth the second.

### 6.1.2 Physical Evidence

The study site currently contains multiple 20<sup>th</sup> century buildings that for Picton High School. The proposed development is to demolish buildings to make way for new updated educational buildings. Landscaping is also proposed along with a new access road along the south eastern boundary and car parking facilities along the western, southern and northern boundaries.

The study site appears to have been used for grazing paddocks throughout the 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> centuries. No evidence has been found to suggest that the study site was ever developed apart from the extant high school. It can be suggested that there is limited archaeological potential for archaeological remains relating to these 19<sup>th</sup> century agricultural activities which were likely to have been heavily impacted by the construction of the school. Low potential exists for evidence of the original road alignment of the 19<sup>th</sup> century Great Southern Road (now Argyle Street) to survive along the study site boundary.

### 6.1.3 Significance

Historical records demonstrate that the study site remained undeveloped and unoccupied until the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century Picton High School building. No known relics have been identified within the study site. The study site fronts the old Great Southern Road (now Argyle Street) constructed in the early 19<sup>th</sup> century. There is low archaeological potential for remains including road base and sandstone to exist outside the allotment boundary that could demonstrate the development of road infrastructure in Australia. If this material is exposed during curb side or street works for the development and found to be in an intact and interpretable state, it has potential to be considered of local significance.

### 6.2 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

The proposed development works located outside of school boundary, along Argyle Street, and in the vicinity of the original 19<sup>th</sup> century Great Southern Road alignment may contain archaeological material relating to original road surfaces or road infrastructure. It is recommended that an Archaeological Work Method Statement is prepared by a qualified archaeologist prior to the commencement of development works at the study site. An Archaeological Work Method Statement will highlight

zones for inspection or monitoring along the site boundary which may impact the former alignment of the Great Southern Road as well as provide mitigation options for management of relics.

Should any unexpected archaeological material be found on the site during excavation works, works should cease in this area and an archaeologist should be contacted to inspect the find. If required, the Heritage Division may need to be notified and further assessment and application may be required as to its removal.

### 6.3 STATEMENT OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL HERITAGE IMPACT

There is low archaeological potential for material including sandstone, road base and materials to be exposed during infrastructure works and relate to earlier instances of the Great Southern Road. Thus, there is some potential for heritage impact to occur within the excavation zone outside of the school boundary and along Argyle Street. For this reason, it is recommended that an Archaeological Work Method Statement is created by a qualified archaeologist and be in place for the duration of excavation works. The Archaeological Work Method Statement will allow for an archaeologist to inspect and potentially monitor works within this zone that could potentially impact on the former alignment of the Great Southern Road.

As no known relics have been identified within the study site, archaeological involvement is only required during excavation works along Argyle Street.

# 7.0 BIBLIOGRAPHY

- G. F. J. Bergman (1960), 'Christian Carl Ludwig Rümker (1788-1862), Australia's First Government Astronomer', Journal and Proceedings (Royal Australian Historical Society).
- Bickford and Sullivan (1984) Assessing the research significance of historic sites. In Site Survey and Significance Assessment in Australian Archaeology.
- New South Wales Registry of Births, Deaths & Marriages, http://www.bdm.nsw.gov.au
- NSW Department of Planning and Heritage Council of NSW (2006) *Historical Archaeology Code of Practice,* Heritage Office of the Department of Planning.
- NSW Land and Property Information, Historical Lands Records Viewer, http://images.maps.nsw.gov.au/pixel.htm
- NSW Land and Property Information, Land Titles Office.
- NSW Land and Property Information, Six Maps Viewer, online resource, http://maps.six.nsw.gov.au/
- NSW Heritage Office (2001) Assessing Heritage Significance, Heritage Office of the Department of Planning.
- NSW Heritage Office (2001 with revisions 2006) *Photographic Recording Of Heritage Items Using Film or Digital Capture*, Heritage Office of the Department of Planning.
- NSW Heritage Office (2009) Assessing Significance for Historical Archaeological Sites and Relics, Heritage Office of the Department of Planning.
- NSW Heritage Office Department of Urban Affairs and Planning (1996) Archaeological Assessment: Archaeological Assessment Guidelines.
- Ryan, R. J. (1974) Land Grants 1788-1809: A Record of Registered Grants and Leases in New South Wales, Van Diemen's Land and Norfolk Island, Australian Documents Library: Sydney.
- State Records of New South Wales, Key name Search, http://srwww.records.nsw.gov.au/indexsearch/keyname.aspx
- Vincent, Liz (1995). The forgotten village of Picton : introducing Upper Picton (Redbank) (1st ed). Liz Vincent, Picton, N.S.W

# 8.0 APPENDICES

# 8.1 PRIMARY APPLICATION 1041

Req:R086317 /Doc:PA 001041 PA /Rev:25-Jun-2015 /Sts:0K.SC /Pgs:ALL /Prt:15-Aug-2018 14:53 /Seq:1 Ref:picton high school /Src:Q Hus South Wo 16. cation tolaing lande under the 10.10 berly Class 26 Inchoring he 9 lie somple The Reverend William Jums dame of Attfeed in the County of Cumber land withe Colony of new South loules to leak in Holy Or deas do solommely unde somerchy declare that I own staged for an to state informing be of - 1.2. One themand Sand situate with County of Connector and South acres of bounded on the horth by red Bante Cuite and 1600 at Puton Stoney inany Roulet-On the East by Stoneguary Rivelet-On the South by a line bearing that Suppy win chanie to the angy a Road and on the licet by that word It Real Bank, Cut, Called - 2 mills Juro hundred acres of Vand more or less situated in the County of Commun District of Protin Commonaing) on the Repean River and brundes a on the north by a line bearing locat fifty soven channe to the angy a Road on the weat by that ward to Payrtle would - on the South by Prover to 200 30 1 Punilet tooks confluence with the hepean Plover and on the Secul y Hickele from win to the commencing for Brally. all that power of Rand commencing ut loist- corner of save Grant and bounded on the west by I Ratalifies purporty beaun of north formation chains, on the the locat by Cidan Cilite downwards to Stone quany Breek and by that Creek downwoude to alleserve Mona Called Railway Rouse on chain ence, on the Cast by suis Round bearing South ten channis sitty lunter sance thence ) on the South East by said Roud pourcelles tothe present Ruitway fines and one chuin distant thusfrom tomather Road leading So Rum Bar Clerk on the South by last manusa Roda branny lost dij chamis thence by them the one chain and by part of the souther Cleeks up would boundary of a furnament prant - bearing tweet thirty seven is to the domance a congificial - Thurstly - Cill that france of Samo commencing at the internations The Southern dany of said grout with the Grant Suthern Railway fince and bounded on the Just B saw Grant part of this deat hem boundary of ast brown by sig Chains deventy lunks, on the East by the furnination of Pectin Road Markow chain a gain on the South by that Road branno Cast faity one

, thenes one chain South tothe boundary afree part of theet formolary branny fast twetter charming when on the cout by Connelan cure to Freda Storses 6 Corelusion bearing Musherly lovenby dix chains, on the the Mathem boundary of to Frelet hences Sisten of hestaly len chains again on the Castreal Solland Poad Eight Chains minely lentes by to the Great Southern Railway fence, and on the and huth level by that for est the formit of remember Fifthly all that bancel of igial the und ersection of the great Southern to the South brinding of a fores and grand and on the South by a One Dugans Sand bearing mini Chains in the Cast by Stoney wary Creeke to the qual-Southern Railway on the hinth sand Railway Mush tocsterly to the Great Southern Road and on the luss - by that Road Susherly front of commencement - Just they. all that-Nand commencing at stonequary Cecette scuel 6 at the intersection with the Great Southern Road on the george Im and bounded on the anth lost by that Road bearing South lusterly Jothe Great Southen Mintury in the South docat by said Rain ay South Casterly to Alone quany Guel and then ce by that Geek up wards to the commencement - Seventhely. Call that for al ne commencing at the intersection of the great Southern Road with the Great Southern Receilway and bounded on the Cast by source Read branny hinth weeksily One hundred and fully huko their & round the need sold to be Fuld here by lines bearing heretel sij chains fifteen links northerly fin chains and asterly five chains eighty five hinkelotherica africanie am on the South Cast by that Roora bearing houth terty seven chains twenty firs Canthe on the heath Hunderrys Alterment bearing lanth decterty ve Chains suffeen links, on the Inthe Gast by said alloment and O. and to Relahtures nent - Month Casterty two chains fifty Cantes The Bungorang in about find Roaw, on the (unth) Cast- by Has Robo month descherely to Stone quany Cuite In the north west by that Creek uproands to the Mailway Road on the local by that road bearing South In Chain's thence Muth Easterly our chain thirty his and South Casterly our chain lothe Mailing of Ref: picton high school /Src:Q Req:R086317 /Doc:PA 001041 PA /Rev:25-Jun-2015 /Sts:0K.SC /Pgs:ALL /Prt:15-Aug-2018 14:53 /Seg

and lastly on the South by that fines Casterly to hepoint of commencement - Bighthey. all has parcel of Vand Comminsing at the location parcel solo 10 Varken on the Bunagora Corner of the Road and bounded on the Song & doest by that Read to Turners futy two acres three roods cond mine perches In the Minth by that land I wol me quany Cice Ro, m the horth Gast by that Creek dame and on the South a line bearing South westerly to the point ofreniement and which several fourcels en collectivity our area of seven hundered and thirteen acces. a and ten perches, which parcels of land bere of Four thousand pounds .. the value of me, and as lothe parcels of land firstly and secondly hereinibefor described are the whole of one thousand and 1000 \$ 200 Ino hundred acres vergenally granted to blances Sens Runke by brown Grants under the hands of Soi Partok Darling and Sir Richard Bunka formuly Governors of the Colory uspectively and asspectively dated the 1828 and the DEt of Amender 1833, and as lothe boncels of land Thirdly, furthey, fifthly, sithly recently his des subedare S BA maller 1:001000 Heado Ander the hand of Sin Thomas Bristane formerly The Colony dated the 9 thinly 1822and of clais that I very believe there does not exist any lea pagreement for laase of the Oned land forany kunly ender tenancy from you from the date of this application hom year loyear ( the that there does not exist any mulgage her changes mencumbiance many will dettement worther due on finos lands act - in dealing giving any night claumin Telest in the said land on any part thereof to any then person than my self -a I further declare that there is no person in prive see accupation of the said lands adversely to my Getule n' milliest therein and that the said land is misin the recupations fromy Timants Thefor J. a. Heldin . Farmer. When hewland . Farmer John Turne Whack multiper about Starban Far Zur 

and that the owners and over price of adjacent lands and as follows, as to the parceles fland 1 stof and 2 miles hereinstepre associated three, and as to the ponices of land 3 miles of they 5 they 6 they 7 stley and 8 they hereinstepre described to the South Meso " A Therewood, to fores a Me Buyan and Mus Conneton some and on all the other sides by Clerks and words; and that the aris decide in instruments of tille affecting the land to which this application relates in my provession in und my control other than those enumandled in the Schedule heicto; and furtherede clare that I was morned to my present wife on the elwenth \_\_\_ day of December 10 Ded 1844. 1845 And Imake this tolen declaration Conscientionaly See milse between the some lobe hue Phis unitent duy of September Eloung Sugration of Applicant. Made and Subscribed by the anosmamed William Sumonane His mitenthe day of Siglender 1865 William Lumsdaine Monsect de fite hip bourt. To the Registron General produce Mealows de clarant do hereby apply tohave the land des enter in the above declaration tronght under the provisions of the flend property act and as quest you to usue the calificate of Tills in the name of migstel Dated at Lydney this minitente day of deptember 18605 tortaces tote gratue monsistophy Sugnature of applicant billion Land Same

Schedule refined to by 1822. Crown Grant to Rumker of 1000 acces December 1828 Aillo - 1000 acus De Auvernber 1833. 200 acus 1×31 December 1828. Rumker to Drug tas Co y Memorial Release of 1000 acres 1 2.4 Rum Donglus Copy mennine Relace of 1000 Dieus 3 november 1827 Douglas Whem ken Annigage Sember 1836 Donglas to Rumber Beau of Equily of Recumption - Release umber 18214 1846 Vamsolaine tolemmercuit Banks Montopage December 1847 Commerceal Bunk to Sumoccuin Receiver ance timber 1848 Sumodame to Sing Mint gave Quenel-1857. Reconveyance induced 1854 Jung to Belly and Co Hebenony Pattoney August 18-54 Sim . . downe lovavi 1859 3 Murther mi il unony 3. Charge inderser). 18100 much Joit Bunk lodum hine 1860 Sunsolaine to Couring Oscember 1860. Sunther Change .-December 1861 Stigther Change .-June 1862. Sunther Change .-Reconvergois 1 1yange Willen Kunddan ા તે પ્રે સંગ્રં 22 

55

### 8.2 LPI VOL 10339 FOL 200

